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(1) 

THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE IRS PAID TAX 
RETURN PREPARER PROGRAM 

THURSDAY, JULY 28, 2011 

U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, 
COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS, 

SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT, 
Washington, DC. 

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:32 a.m., in Room 
1100, Longworth House Office Building, the Honorable Charles 
Boustany [chairman of the subcommittee] presiding. 

[The advisory of the hearing follows:] 
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HEARING ADVISORY 
FROM THE COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS 

Boustany Announces Hearing on New IRS Paid 
Tax Return Preparer Program 

Thursday, July 28, 2011 

Congressman Charles W. Boustany, Jr., MD, (R–LA), Chairman of the Sub-
committee on Oversight of the Committee on Ways and Means, today announced the 
Subcommittee will hold a hearing on the new IRS paid tax return preparer pro-
gram. The hearing will take place on Thursday, July 28, 2011, in Room 1100 
of the Longworth House Office Building, beginning at 9:30 A.M. 

In view of the limited time available to hear witnesses, oral testimony at this 
hearing will be from invited witnesses only. However, any individual or organization 
not scheduled for an oral appearance may submit a written statement for consider-
ation by the Committee and for inclusion in the printed record of the hearing. A 
list of invited witnesses will follow. 

BACKGROUND: 

Approximately sixty percent of taxpayers pay a professional to prepare their Fed-
eral income tax returns. The Government Accountability Office (‘‘GAO’’) has long 
noted the impact of these preparers on tax compliance and the need for stronger 
oversight of the tax preparer community. Among GAO’s concerns are errors by tax 
return preparers that affect improper payments, including an estimated $106 billion 
in improper refundable tax credits in recent years. 

In response to these and other concerns, the IRS initiated a tax return preparer 
initiative to stop erroneous returns at the source, rather than through the laborious 
and expensive audit process. The program has created a new category of paid return 
preparer: the ‘‘registered’’ tax return preparer. 

As of January 1, 2011, anyone who is paid to prepare ‘‘all or a substantial portion’’ 
of a tax return is required to obtain a Paid-Preparer Tax Identification Number 
(‘‘PTIN’’). These registered tax return preparers will be subject to several require-
ments, including registration, competency testing, background checks, continuing 
professional education, and certain ethical standards. To date, approximately 
717,000 individuals have received PTINs. PTINs issued to individuals who are not 
attorneys, certified public accountants, or enrolled agents, will only be valid until 
2013, when the preparers must meet the additional requirements. 

In January 2010, the IRS estimated that the program would take three years to 
be fully implemented and to show results in reducing improper payments to the cli-
ents of these preparers. However, a year and a half later, GAO has urged the IRS 
to provide measurable performance goals and better communicate with tax practi-
tioners regarding the new requirements. 

In announcing the hearing, Chairman Boustany said, ‘‘This hearing is a con-
tinuation of the Subcommittee’s oversight of the IRS and the alarming 
rates of tax noncompliance. With so many Americans relying on paid pro-
fessionals to prepare their returns, it is critical that we better understand 
what the IRS is doing and what impact the new regulations will have on 
taxpayers, paid tax return preparers, and tax compliance.’’ 

FOCUS OF THE HEARING: 

The hearing will focus on reviewing the new requirements on paid return pre-
parers, assessing progress made by the IRS in preparing and implementing a pro-
gram work plan, and understanding how this will ultimately impact the tax return 
preparer community and taxpayers. 
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DETAILS FOR SUBMISSION OF WRITTEN COMMENTS: 

Please Note: Any person(s) and/or organization(s) wishing to submit for the hear-
ing record must follow the appropriate link on the hearing page of the Committee 
website and complete the informational forms. From the Committee homepage, 
http://waysandmeans.house.gov, select ‘‘Hearings.’’ Select the hearing for which you 
would like to submit, and click on the link entitled, ‘‘Click here to provide a submis-
sion for the record.’’ Once you have followed the online instructions, submit all re-
quested information. ATTACH your submission as a Word document, in compliance 
with the formatting requirements listed below, by the close of business on Tues-
day, August 11 2011. Finally, please note that due to the change in House mail 
policy, the U.S. Capitol Police will refuse sealed-package deliveries to all House Of-
fice Buildings. For questions, or if you encounter technical problems, please call 
(202) 225–1721 or (202) 225–3625. 

FORMATTING REQUIREMENTS: 

The Committee relies on electronic submissions for printing the official hearing 
record. As always, submissions will be included in the record according to the discre-
tion of the Committee. The Committee will not alter the content of your submission, 
but we reserve the right to format it according to our guidelines. Any submission 
provided to the Committee by a witness, any supplementary materials submitted for 
the printed record, and any written comments in response to a request for written 
comments must conform to the guidelines listed below. Any submission or supple-
mentary item not in compliance with these guidelines will not be printed, but will 
be maintained in the Committee files for review and use by the Committee. 

1. All submissions and supplementary materials must be provided in Word format and MUST 
NOT exceed a total of 10 pages, including attachments. Witnesses and submitters are advised 
that the Committee relies on electronic submissions for printing the official hearing record. 

2. Copies of whole documents submitted as exhibit material will not be accepted for printing. 
Instead, exhibit material should be referenced and quoted or paraphrased. All exhibit material 
not meeting these specifications will be maintained in the Committee files for review and use 
by the Committee. 

3. All submissions must include a list of all clients, persons, and/or organizations on whose 
behalf the witness appears. A supplemental sheet must accompany each submission listing the 
name, company, address, telephone, and fax numbers of each witness. 

The Committee seeks to make its facilities accessible to persons with disabilities. 
If you are in need of special accommodations, please call 202–225–1721 or 202–226– 
3411 TTD/TTY in advance of the event (four business days notice is requested). 
Questions with regard to special accommodation needs in general (including avail-
ability of Committee materials in alternative formats) may be directed to the Com-
mittee as noted above. 

Note: All Committee advisories and news releases are available on the World 
Wide Web at http://www.waysandmeans.house.gov/. 

f 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Good morning, everyone, and welcome to 
this morning’s Oversight Subcommittee hearing on the IRS paid 
tax return preparer program. 

In recent years the increasing complexity of the Internal Rev-
enue Code has led more and more Americans to rely on paid tax 
return preparers to fulfill their tax return filing obligations. Paid 
tax return preparers prepared an estimated 60 percent of all fed-
eral returns filed. In fact, at a subcommittee hearing earlier this 
year, even the commissioner of the IRS testified that he relies on 
a paid return preparer. 

Paid tax return preparers serve an important role in tax admin-
istration, and are often a taxpayer’s only source of advice on their 
income taxes. GAO has monitored this trend, and issued reports 
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detailing the need for increased oversight on the rapidly growing 
tax return preparer community. 

The results of these reviews are somewhat disheartening. GAO 
has found that nearly all tax returns that were prepared during its 
review contained mistakes. Not all mistakes were intentional, but 
they all contribute to erroneous returns that have cost taxpayers 
billions of dollars. For example, errors related to refundable tax 
credits, if you look at all of them, have led to an estimated $106 
billion in improper payments over the last decade. 

In 2010, the IRS launched a paid return preparer initiative, 
which it hopes will stop abusive returns at the source, rather than 
through lengthy and expensive audit processes. Under this new 
oversight regime, return preparers must register with the IRS, pay 
an application fee, and will be assigned a unique identification 
number. The IRS also plans to impose mandatory minimum com-
petency testing, continuing education requirements, background 
and tax checks, and certain ethical standards. 

The IRS believes this program will improve preparer competence 
and service to taxpayers, and result in greater tax compliance. This 
morning’s hearing will focus on how this program is coming to-
gether, and how it might affect both taxpayers and the return pre-
parer community. 

This initiative enjoys broad-based support, but there are some 
lingering concerns and questions that remain unanswered. Much of 
the program will not be in place until 2013, so we will not know 
its full impact for some time. However, it does remain unclear how 
the initiative will ultimately impact tax compliance. A recent report 
issued by GAO raised concerns regarding the program’s future ef-
fectiveness. 

We do not yet know the full cost and compliance burdens the 
new program will place on return preparers, or whether the re-
quirements will yield the intended benefits. Indeed, the new re-
quirements will cost tax return preparers an estimated $51 million 
to $77 million annually in registration fees alone. This does not in-
clude the additional cost associated with taking the competency ex-
amination and continuing education. 

It is also necessary that the IRS conduct outreach to ensure that 
return preparers and taxpayers alike know and understand the 
new requirements. Without an effective public education campaign 
and enforcement plan, some argue that little progress is being 
made at reaching preparers that pose the greatest compliance risk. 
And we do understand there are challenges with that, but this will 
be one issue we can examine. 

This is a critical issue for tax administration, and it is important 
that Congress understand the new requirements and continues its 
oversight to judge whether the new program improves tax compli-
ance. Tax payers, paid preparers, and the IRS are best served if 
this initiative is successful. 

Before I yield to Ranking Member Lewis, I ask unanimous con-
sent that all Members’ written statements be included in the 
record. 

[No response.] 
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Chairman BOUSTANY. Without objection, so ordered. And now 
I turn to the ranking member, Mr. Lewis, for his opening state-
ment. 

Mr. LEWIS. Thank you, Chairman Boustany, for holding this 
hearing. The regulation of paid tax return preparers is an impor-
tant topic, important for taxpayers and important for tax compli-
ance. I want to commend the Internal Revenue Service for its lead-
ership in this area, and am pleased with the overall strategy of the 
agency and its time line for phasing in the new requirements. 

I am also pleased that many in the paid preparer community 
support the program. We have all heard too many stories of fly-by- 
night tax preparers who take advantage of low-income and middle- 
income taxpayers. I have long believed that regulating tax pre-
parers will protect taxpayers by making sure persons who are paid 
to prepare returns are knowledgeable and trustworthy. 

I also believe that regulating tax preparers will enhanced tax 
compliance. The new requirements will allow the IRS to provide 
more oversight of preparers. This will allow the agents to detect 
patterns of fraud or simple errors, and take steps to remedy the 
problems and protect taxpayers. 

In closing, I want to thank our witnesses for being here today. 
I look forward to your testimony and any recommendations you 
may have for protecting taxpayers and educating them about this 
necessary program. 

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman BOUSTANY. I thank the gentleman for his statement. 

We will now turn to our first panel of witnesses. I want to welcome 
Mr. David Williams, who is director of the IRS Return Preparer Of-
fice, and Mr. Jim White, who is director of strategic issues with the 
Government Accountability Office. I want to thank both of you for 
being here today, and for the work you are doing on this. You will 
each have five minutes to present your testimony, with your full 
written testimony submitted for the record. 

Mr. Williams, I know you have done a lot of work on this, and 
we appreciate you being here, and look forward to your testimony. 
I do know that this is a big priority for Commissioner Shulman. 

And so, you may proceed, sir. 

STATEMENT OF DAVID WILLIAMS, DIRECTOR, IRS RETURN 
PREPARER OFFICE, INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE, WASH-
INGTON, D.C. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member 
Lewis, and Members of the Subcommittee. We really appreciate the 
opportunity to testify on the IRS’s tax return preparer program, 
which we think is one of the most important initiatives that the 
IRS has undertaken in recent memory. 

For decades, most taxpayers prepared their own returns. How-
ever, over the past 20 to 30 years, the reality of tax filing in this 
country has changed dramatically. Today, more than 8 out of 10 
taxpayers use a preparer or tax software. 

There are a number of positives in this growing trend. One of the 
most important is that qualified return preparers can help tax-
payers file accurate and timely returns from the start. Working 
with the taxpayer, they can prevent inadvertent errors, which can 
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save both taxpayers and the IRS precious time and resources, and 
keep taxpayers’ interactions with the IRS to a minimum, which I 
think many taxpayers will prefer. 

I want to stress that the IRS sees the professional return pre-
parer community as a strong ally in our efforts to boost overall 
service and compliance. This program is all about inclusion and 
leveraging the return preparer community as a partner. 

Many people are surprised to discover that, despite the fact that 
paying taxes is one of the largest financial transactions that the av-
erage American family has each year, there have been no basic 
competency requirements, and little oversight for paid tax return 
preparers who are not attorneys, enrolled agents, or certified public 
accountants. Practically anyone can prepare a federal tax return 
for any other person for a fee. 

Through the return preparer program, the IRS wants to 
strengthen its partnerships with tax practitioners, tax return pre-
parers, and other third parties to ensure effective tax administra-
tion. In addition, we want to ensure all of these participants have 
a minimal level of competency, and adhere to professional stand-
ards. 

In implementing the tax return preparer program, we have 
worked closely with stakeholders every step of the way, and we 
plan to continue this practice, going forward. At each stage of the 
process, from the initial review, which included three public hear-
ings and about which we received more than 500 public comments, 
to the implementation of subsequent requirements which we have 
discussed with hundreds of stakeholders in meetings and public 
sessions, we have been committed to engaging with our stake-
holders, listening to their concerns and suggestions, and making 
appropriate changes to our plans, in light of their feedback. 

Supporting this approach is the staged implementation process 
we have adopted. In September of 2010 the IRS launched phase 
one by issuing regulations requiring paid return preparers to reg-
ister with the IRS, and to obtain a preparer tax identification num-
ber or PTIN. As a result of our wide-ranging outreach and edu-
cation program, we have registered over 717,000 return preparers 
to date. More than an identification number, the PTIN registration 
process gives the IRS an important and better line of sight into the 
return preparer community than we have ever had before. We can 
leverage that information to help better analyze trends, spot anom-
alies, and potentially detect fraud. 

The PTIN process will also help the IRS build, in several years, 
a publicly-accessible database of those registered. This is an ex-
tremely important tool for consumers, as they will be able to search 
that database to ensure that their preparer is registered. And it 
will make it easier for everyone to find and track return preparers. 

As described in my written testimony, the next phase of the pro-
gram involves background checks, competency testing, and the an-
nual completion of 15 hours of continuing education for many paid 
return preparers. We will begin rolling out parts of the program 
later this year, and on into 2012. As I mentioned above, we are 
seeking public input as we conduct this implementation. In fact, we 
have issued formal requests for public comment on both testing 
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and continuing education. We have received hundreds of responses 
that will help guide our plans. 

Mr. Chairman, in conclusion, the tax return preparer program 
strengthens the IRS’s partnerships with tax practitioners who are 
already registered and regulated and tested, while ensuring that 
all return preparers are serving the American public well. This is 
a point of leverage where the IRS can maximize the use of our re-
sources, while tapping into the experience, specialized knowledge, 
infrastructure, technology, and activities of other players in the tax 
system, and make them an integral part of our service and compli-
ance strategies. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Williams follows:] 
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f 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you, Mr. Williams. 
Mr. White, you may proceed. 
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STATEMENT OF JIM WHITE, DIRECTOR, STRATEGIC ISSUES, 
GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY OFFICE, WASHINGTON, D.C. 

Mr. WHITE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Lewis, 
and Members of the Subcommittee. I am pleased to be here to dis-
cuss paid preparer regulation, and how it might improve our tax 
system. 

As you stated, Mr. Chairman, paid preparers are one of the cor-
nerstones of tax administration in this country. They prepare 60 
percent of returns. Many taxpayers no longer interact directly with 
IRS, they turn to preparers for answers to questions and assistance 
filing. Today I will discuss IRS’s implementation of paid preparer 
regulation, and how IRS might leverage it to improve service to 
taxpayers and the accuracy of their returns. 

But first, some background on paid preparer performance. In 
2002, we found that as many as 2.2 million individual taxpayers 
likely overpaid their taxes by about $1 billion by not itemizing 
their deductions. About half making this mistake used a paid pre-
parer. While it is hard to know whether the taxpayer or the pre-
parer was responsible, it raised questions about preparer perform-
ance. 

In 2006 we went undercover and had 19 tax returns prepared for 
a hypothetic plumber and working mother. All 19 had errors: two 
had our hypothetical taxpayers overpaying by about $1,500; and 
five of them underpaying by almost $2,000 each. 

In 2008 we studied Oregon, one of 2 states to regulate paid pre-
parers. While we could not provide causation, returns prepared by 
Oregon preparers were more accurate than the national average. 

In 2009 IRS recommended registration of paid preparers, com-
petency testing, and continuing education, and holding all pre-
parers to standards of practice. 

Now, I will discuss IRS’s implementation of the recommenda-
tions. This year, IRS required that all paid preparers register and 
get a preparer tax ID number, or PTIN. Even this seemingly mod-
est step has benefits. It will give IRS a more accurate count of the 
number of paid preparers. As of this month, as Mr. Williams just 
said, IRS says 717,000 paid preparers have registered. IRS has a 
proposed time line for the other new requirements. Next is com-
petency testing. It will start later this year, with current preparers 
having until the end of 2013 to pass the test. 

Initially, IRS is using a soft touch to enforce the new require-
ments, encouraging preparers to register with outreach and edu-
cation. This month, the IRS began notifying about 100,000 paid 
preparers who signed tax returns but did not use a PTIN about 
how to get a PTIN. IRS is planning to get tougher on preparers 
who do not comply. For example, IRS said it will send letters to 
taxpayers whose returns were not signed by the apparent preparer. 
The letter will explain how to file a complaint about unregistered 
preparers, and choose a preparer who is complying. 

Now I want to discuss the ultimate goal of preparer regulation. 
The goal is to leverage the paid preparer community to: first, help 
taxpayers file more accurate tax returns, so taxpayers neither un-
derpay nor overpay their taxes; and second, to reduce the burden 
on taxpayers by reducing confusion, and facilitating filing. 
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To leverage the paid preparer community, several actions by IRS 
are necessary. One is research. We have consistently stressed the 
importance of IRS conducting research to identify areas of non- 
compliance, and test strategies for improving compliance. The idea 
is to have a continual feedback loop, where IRS learns about what 
is effective or not, modifies its approach accordingly, does more re-
search, and so on. To its credit, IRS has just such a framework in 
mind for paid preparer regulation. It includes developing a com-
prehensive database on preparers, and the tax returns they pre-
pare, and then analyzing it to develop and test strategies for im-
proving the accuracy of returns. 

Likewise, IRS wants to measure the effects of the new strategy— 
of the new testing and continuing education requirements on tax 
return accuracy. However, as of our March report, IRS had not doc-
umented its research and assessment framework. This matters, be-
cause one of the other actions necessary to successfully leverage 
paid preparer regulation is buy-in from preparers. Without a docu-
mented framework, it is not easy for preparers who bear the cost 
of the regulations to tell what they are supposed to be buying into. 
Some members and officials of paid preparer organizations told us 
the new requirements will only be worthwhile if they result in im-
proved compliance. In our report we recommended that IRS docu-
ment its framework, and IRS agreed. 

I will close by noting the potential for paid preparer regulation 
to be part of a fundamental rethinking of IRS’s approach to assist-
ing taxpayers and ensuring compliance. Combined with other ef-
forts such as systems modernization, more pre-refund compliance 
checks, and innovative uses of information returns, paid preparer 
regulation could help improve taxpayer compliance, while reducing 
both the compliance burden on taxpayers and IRS’s costs. 

That concludes my statement, and I would be happy to answer 
questions. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. White follows:] 
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f 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you, Mr. White. Mr. Williams, 
when you were designing the paid preparer program, did you look 
at any existing programs? We are aware that Oregon—and I think 
Mr. White referenced the Oregon program and improved results in 
California, as a result of their plan. There are companies that have 
worked in this area, and have fairly extensive plans. 

Can you describe to what extent you looked at these existing 
plans? 
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Mr. WILLIAMS. Yes, Mr. Chairman, we did. And, in fact, we 
conducted a six-month review of not only what was going on in 
states, we did a small look at other countries. 

We had three sets of national hearings, which—we heard specifi-
cally from Oregon and California. We heard from tax practitioners, 
big companies, small companies. We talked to consumer groups. 
We sought public comment, we got over 500 public comments that 
gave us insights into the way in which other states had done it, 
what had worked, what had not. And we built and designed the 
program, based on that input and feedback. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. Did you consider, or give any 
consideration to certifying some of these programs? In other words, 
instead of having one plan coming out of your office here in Wash-
ington, saying, ‘‘Okay, well, Oregon plan works pretty well,’’ or 
take, for instance a company like H&R Block, which has a very ex-
tensive education program and competency testing. I think there 
are some differences, from what I understand, in the way they do 
background checks. 

But was there any consideration over at IRS given to certifying 
those existing programs, to avoid some duplication and perhaps 
added cost? 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Interestingly, we did talk both to H&R Block, 
we did talk to the folks from Oregon, and others. I have probably 
had requests for 15 to 20 different, as you called them, certifi-
cations. 

And as I started to accrue each and every one of them, I realized 
that we would end up with a patchwork system, where some people 
would be covered under one standard, and others would be covered 
under another. And our concern was that there could be consumer 
confusion, as a result of trying to understand which certification 
mattered. And tax professionals might, as well. 

We have talked to both the folks you’ve mentioned, as well as 
others, and suggested that we will work with them to ensure that 
the standards and the minimal competency testing on which we are 
working is a framework on which they can build. So, to the extent 
that they are developing their own testing, the federal standard 
would be the base upon which they could build additional changes, 
going forward. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. I thank you. Mr. White, can you tell us 
more about how GAO conducted the study, where you referenced 
the errors that were found? And were they in favor of the tax pre-
parer or the taxpayer? Give us a little more detail on that. 

Mr. WHITE. It was—as I said, we created hypothetical tax-
payers. We have got a group in our office that can go under cover. 
And so they represented these taxpayers. One, as I said, was a 
plumber. The plumber had wage income working for another 
plumbing contractor, and then also worked some on his own, and 
so had self-employment income. We reported all of that to the pre-
parers. 

Our other case was a hypothetical working mother. She had two 
kids, she had a job, some wage income from that. But she was fair-
ly low-income, and eligible for the earned income credit. We laid 
out all the facts to the preparers. We picked 19. They were from 
various large chains. And, as I said, in all 19 cases there were 
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some mistakes. In a number of those cases the mistakes were sub-
stantial. Some favored the government, some favored the taxpayer. 
They were—so the underpayments were as large as $2,000. The 
overpayments, in 2 different cases, were over $1,500. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. For both of you, one final 
question that I have. Two of the most problematic types of paid 
preparers are ghost preparers—those who are paid to prepare re-
turns, but do not indicate so on the return, itself—and then also 
what have been called fly-by-night preparers, who may open up 
shop for a month out of the year, and then they’re gone once the 
questions arise about the return or the taxpayers audited. 

I know it is early in the process, and this is a preliminary hear-
ing to sort of gauge how things are going, and we are going to have 
to do more to benchmark success. Can both of you give us some in-
dication of how we are going to address those two problems? 

Mr. WHITE. One key, Mr. Chairman, is an ongoing process of re-
search. You are absolutely correct. Right now the service does not 
have a complete picture of how they can leverage paid preparers 
to improve service to taxpayers and compliance by taxpayers by 
working through preparers. And it’s not a bad thing that they don’t 
have a plan right now for that. 

What they need to do is what they have said they are going to 
be doing, putting together a comprehensive database that will in-
clude information about preparers, combine that with information 
about the tax return those preparers prepare. And that is one vehi-
cle. There are others, as well. 

But they need to learn from this sort of data about what the na-
ture of the problem is, develop some strategies, and then collect 
data, monitor the effectiveness of those strategies, and modify the 
strategies as they learn more about what is working and what is 
not working. There are going to be some surprises going forward 
on this, and so it is going to be a continual process of learning and 
adjusting. 

And it is going to cost some money. It is going to require an in-
vestment in this research that I am talking about. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. The two states I referenced earlier, that 
both of you have referenced as well, California and Oregon, is there 
some experience there that we can learn from? 

Mr. WHITE. Well, yes, there is. In the case of Oregon, we looked 
at Oregon, and it was a challenge to determine exactly what the 
impact of the Oregon regulatory process was on taxpayer compli-
ance, precisely because Oregon, early on, had not collected good 
baseline data for comparison. 

And so, what we are looking for the Service to be doing, for IRS 
to be doing now, is collecting better baseline data. That is part of 
why we think it is important to document the framework they are 
using, so that the research community has an idea, and can con-
tribute to thinking about the sort of analysis of the program that 
needs to be done, and that then tells you what kind of data needs 
to be collected now, so that you will be ready to do that analysis. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. I thank you. Mr. Williams, do you want 
to add—— 

Mr. WILLIAMS. If I could follow up on that just a little, because 
that is exactly where we are going with it. We are not jumping to 
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conclusions about the quickest and easiest way to deal with prob-
lematic preparers. 

You identified two categories. The first, ghost preparers—in 
other words, folks who do the returns, but hand them back to the 
client, and the client signs, saying they did it themselves, those are 
probably going to be the most challenging. 

We are actually testing, this filing season, some statistical meth-
ods for identifying those preparers. Now, we may not be able to 
identify exactly who prepared the return, but we may be able to 
identify returns that look like they were done by preparers, in 
which case we are looking at, again, testing strategies to commu-
nicate with the taxpayers who had their returns done by these 
folks, to say, ‘‘Hey, did you know your preparer isn’t registered, 
doesn’t follow the system,’’ to see if we can tease out the folks that 
are in that ghost preparer category. 

I think there is a broader thing to remember, though, in that as 
we move through this, and we are doing it in a measured way, 
there are a lot of professionals out there in their small businesses 
who are struggling to make sure that they understand what we are 
requiring them to do, and their requirements. And we need to be 
very sensitive to them, as we move into the field of trying to en-
force and get the compliance dead on. 

And so, that is why following GAO’s recommendation, what we 
have been planning, we are going to do tests to figure out what 
works and what is most effective and most cost effective to address 
those issues. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. I thank you. And now I turn to the rank-
ing member of the committee, Mr. Lewis. 

Mr. LEWIS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Williams, 
I am concerned that the taxpayers we are trying to protect may not 
know about the new requirements. How will the IRS educate these 
taxpayers? 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Lewis, that is an excellent point. And in 
fact, at this point, most taxpayers do not know what we are doing, 
for a very specific reason. At this point, all that we have done is 
made sure that people who are preparing returns have a number. 
And that doesn’t help taxpayers understand very much about who 
they are going to. What we are trying to do is get the preparers 
in the system first, make sure they have taken the competency 
exams we have talked about, and are doing the continuing edu-
cation. 

And we intend, as more preparers actually do that, to launch a 
nationwide campaign to educate taxpayers about who is available, 
what it means to be a registered tax return preparer, and to under-
stand that they need to go to someone who is either a registered 
preparer, a CPA, an attorney, or an enrolled agent to support 
them, and ensure that they get their taxes done right. 

It is just that today we are just starting the program, and I don’t 
want taxpayers to be looking for more than is there, because it is 
not there yet. 

Mr. LEWIS. Mr. Williams, GAO has said that a database of paid 
preparers would be available in 2014. Why will it take three years? 

Mr. WILLIAMS. It is—it will take until the end of 2013 or 2014 
before we make that available, and here is why. We have about 
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700,000-plus people who have just registered with us. Many of 
them are CPAs and attorneys and enrolled agents, but somewhere 
between 400,000 and 500,000 of them are unenrolled preparers 
who are going to have to take that test and go through the back-
ground checks and so on. We want to give them time to do it. These 
are small businesses, these are people who may have been in prac-
tice for a number of years. 

I don’t know about you, but most people sort of remember the 
last time they had to take a big test. And we are very concerned 
that there is anxiety about test-taking, and we want to give them 
a chance to take that test, to prepare for it, and give them some 
time. 

So, for the next two years, they will have the flexibility to take 
the test and repeat it, if necessary. We are going to work with the 
community to make sure that they have educational opportunities 
and give them some time before we start publicizing and pushing 
the full database. We want to get them into the database first. 

Mr. LEWIS. All right. Mr. Williams, a witness on the next panel 
recommends that the IRS establish a central telephone number 
and database for complaints. What are your thoughts on this rec-
ommendation? 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Actually, we are doing that now. We are devel-
oping what I will call a referral process. I go to forums around the 
country and talk to thousands of tax preparers. I was just at one 
yesterday in Dallas. And they will come up to me and say, you 
know, ‘‘I know this person down the street who is working out of 
his garage,’’ or, ‘‘I am cleaning up after—he does returns, and then 
the clients have problems.’’ 

So what we are developing to capture that is a system of col-
lecting that information, putting it in a central place, and actually 
starting to build a process to identify and address each of those 
concerns directly, because we think it is important. Those are one 
of our best sources of referrals, and that is a good place to start, 
if there are problems. 

Mr. LEWIS. Yes, thank you very much. Now, Mr. White, how 
would you grade the IRS on the preparer plan or strategy so far? 

Mr. WHITE. What we have said in our report is that they have 
done a pretty good job implementing this so far. We had one rec-
ommendation, and that was that they actually document this 
framework. And I call it a framework, rather than a detailed plan 
right now, because this framework is going to evolve over time. 

But we think it is important that that be documented, because 
one of the keys to success of this whole effort is paid preparer buy- 
in. IRS is looking to work with paid preparers to help taxpayers get 
better assistance than they’ve gotten in the past, and to file more 
accurate tax returns. So it is a matter of working with them, enlist-
ing their help in this. That is the ultimate goal of this. 

Mr. LEWIS. Mr. White, your testimony noted that the IRS 
planned to make available a database of paid preparers in 2014. 
This seems so far away. Is this a reasonable time line? 

Mr. WHITE. I think the way Mr. Williams described it is reason-
able. I guess what I would add to that is one thing—since this 
database is going to be available to the public, and the intent is 
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it be used by the public to find preparers who are registered, it is 
very important that it be user friendly. 

And so, I think testing the database, testing how the access to 
the database works, monitoring the way it is used, once it is set 
up, to determine whether, in fact, it is user friendly, is as user 
friendly as it could be. 

Mr. LEWIS. Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman BOUSTANY. I thank the gentleman. Ms. Jenkins, you 

are recognized. 
Ms. JENKINS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for being 

here. 
In your written testimony, Mr. Williams, you stated that the IRS 

sent out more than 10,000 letters to tax preparers with completed 
returns containing common errors. The letter included an enclosure 
that reminded them of their responsibility to prepare accurate re-
turns. The IRS also personally visited 2,500 of the preparers who 
had received the letter. 

First of all, can you share with us what some of the common er-
rors were that you found on the tax return? Secondly, has the IRS 
set any benchmarks for improvement regarding those common er-
rors that were currently found? And then, finally, what sort of ex-
pectations might you have for this program to accomplish in re-
gards to these types of common errors? 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Sure. So, a couple things. First of all the most 
common error, and the one on which we focus a great deal of our 
effort, is the earned income credit. As you’ve heard probably in 
other hearings, and mentioned earlier, there is a large, erroneous 
payment problem with the earned income tax credit. And it is the 
result of a variety of things. It is people, taxpayers themselves, who 
don’t understand the rules and are not sure how to prepare, or 
their preparers, to do this. It is a result of preparers not under-
standing the rules, and not being precise in following the require-
ments. 

And so, much of what we see is an erroneous claim for the 
earned income credit. And so one of the targets, in terms of identi-
fying preparers and those that we sent letters to, is exactly that 
kind of error, refundable credits, in particular. 

In terms of establishing benchmarks, the initial two years of 
doing those visits showed us that—we are building some data that 
tells us how well those preparers are doing. We are actually fol-
lowing them in subsequent years, to see how well they do with re-
gard to the accuracy of the returns they prepare in the future. I 
think we are going to learn from that, whether there are better 
ways of identifying problematic kinds of returns. 

And you mentioned the visits, as well. Those visits take time. 
They can be intrusive. And my objective, using the data that we 
are going to get from the return preparer initiative, is to make sure 
that we are not visiting someone if a letter that reminds them they 
need to pay more attention to a particular area is sufficient to get 
them to improve their compliance. 

In other words, we need to figure out the best way to encourage 
preparers to comply before we start knocking on their doors and 
doing some of the other more intrusive things that we can do to 
get their attention. 
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Ms. JENKINS. Okay. One of my concerns with the implementa-
tion of this return preparer initiative are the compliance and ad-
ministrative costs. And, as our chairman mentioned in his opening 
statements, according to the GAO, the new requirements are esti-
mated at cost per payer as 51 to 77 million, annually, in registra-
tion fees alone, and that didn’t include, as he mentioned, the cost 
of compliance and the testing and the ongoing education require-
ments. That ranges from $20 to $300 per course. 

According to the March 2011 GAO report, the IRS is planning to 
conduct a first review of the PTIN registration user fee in the sum-
mer of 2012. 

So, for Mr. Williams, have you made any progress on the review, 
and can you share any results? Do you anticipate that you will be 
able to lower these costs? And what is your reasoning for requiring 
registration on an annual basis, rather than, perhaps, on an every- 
three-year. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. We have begun the review. We haven’t finalized 
it. We are basically entering the first half of our second year in the 
program. I think it is premature to tell you that I can lower the 
fee. I can also tell you, though, that is our objective. We are very 
sensitive to imposing costs on small businesses. 

The one thing to keep in mind, the PTIN designation in all of 
this actually attaches to the individual, not the business. So it be-
comes a credential that he or she may carry with him or her wher-
ever they go. Our objective in all of this is to ensure that the pro-
gram is funded at an appropriate level through the user fee. 

And I talk to preparers about this, because it means something 
that I don’t think they have thought about, which is we owe them 
something for this service. We owe them service, we owe them a 
level playing field. So your discussion about compliance, I think is 
very important. When I talk to the small businesses who are doing 
preparer work, their concerns are that they have got competitors 
down the street from them who are not following the rules, who are 
preparing poor returns, hurting taxpayers, and that they are not 
on a level playing field. 

And so, one of our objectives with that user fee is to figure out 
the most cost-effective way to improve compliance with people who 
are either not complying with the rules, or among those who are, 
but are really not paying attention, figuring out cost-effective ways 
to get them to do better in their practice. And that is part of the 
experimentation and research that Mr. White was talking about, 
figuring out whether there is a way. I will give you one example. 

The continuing education requirement does impose some cost on 
preparers, but I can also see a scenario where one of the ways in 
which we might improve people’s compliance—in other words, the 
accuracy of their returns—is saying, ‘‘Hey, we have taken a look at 
some of your returns. You are having a problem in this area. Some 
of your continuing education should be directed to this kind of 
thing,’’ so we don’t have to impose penalties on those folks. We 
need to be looking at ways of getting them the right education to 
improve their service to the taxpayer. 

Ms. JENKINS. Okay, thank you. I yield back. Thank you, Mr. 
Chairman. 
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Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. I know, Mr. Becerra, you 
have had an interest in this issue for quite a while, and you are 
recognized for questioning. 

Mr. BECERRA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you for 
holding this hearing. I appreciate that very much. It is a follow-up 
on some good work that has been done in the past. And I would 
like to begin my five minutes by first recognizing and commending 
Commissioner Shulman and all the folks at the IRS, the profes-
sionals at the IRS. I also want to commend the folks at GAO who 
have made it possible for the IRS to work with you to try to figure 
out how to best navigate this. 

I think this was long overdue, but I appreciate the way that you 
have handled this, more than anything else because it seems like 
most of the paid tax preparer community is on board, which is not 
typically the case when it comes to wanting to deal with the IRS. 
And so I think you are doing something very good here, and not 
just good, but right. And I hope that you continue moving methodi-
cally but with all due speed, so that we can implement regulations 
that most Americans would say they wish they had in place—or we 
had had in place for quite some time. 

I can’t tell you how many Americans have come up to me in the 
past and said, ‘‘You know how much money I lost because I went 
to this guy, and he said he could prepare my returns, and I was 
going to get X amount of money back, and I was really happy, low 
and behold, then the IRS starts auditing me?’’ It just goes on and 
on. And these are folks who are middle class, modest-income fami-
lies for whom a $500 bill to have these forms prepared was signifi-
cant, but then to have the IRS breathing down their neck because 
they didn’t do it right, is even worse. So, thank you very much for 
what you are doing. 

Mr. White, let me begin by asking a couple questions. I believe 
the IRS had initially estimated that there would be somewhere be-
tween 900,000 to 1.2 million paid tax preparers in this universe of 
folks who did tax returns. So far we have gotten over 700,000 pre-
parers who have come forward and registered. Is it your belief that 
there is still a universe, a significant universe of people out there, 
who are performing tax preparer services for money, who have not 
yet come forward to register? 

Mr. WHITE. Yes, there are. I don’t know how many. One of the 
problems in this area, before this regulatory effort started, was IRS 
did not have a count of the number of paid preparers out there. 
They simply didn’t know. People didn’t have to use a unique identi-
fying number when they signed a tax return. They could use a va-
riety of numbers. 

So, this gives them more information about the preparer commu-
nity than ever in the past. And it is not just the number that is 
important; it is really information about the types of preparers, 
how they comply, how they fill out returns, the accuracy of those 
returns. Part of the vision for the future here, I think, is getting 
to a point where IRS, almost in real time, by analyzing the data 
coming in, would be able to identify preparers that are preparing 
inaccurate returns, communicate with them during the filing sea-
son, and get the errors fixed, so that more taxpayers don’t run into 
the sorts of problems you have identified. 
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Because you are exactly right. If you underpay your taxes, IRS 
is going to come after you and charge you penalties, and you are 
in worse shape. 

Mr. BECERRA. Yes. And so, what we want any American tax-
payer or any consumer who is watching or listening to this hearing 
to understand is that not every person who professes to be a pre-
parer of tax returns with the talent and the experience to do it has 
yet come forward to the IRS to identify themselves. 

And so, as Mr. Williams identified them as ghost tax preparers, 
I would call them black marketeer tax preparers, because they 
have now had a chance to come forward as many of those profes-
sionals—and I applaud each and every one of those 700,000-plus 
professionals who have stepped forward and registered, because es-
sentially what they are saying is, ‘‘I am willing to live by this new 
regime, to make sure that consumers understand that I came for-
ward before the IRS to tell them I am going to hold myself out as 
someone who can prepare your returns and deserve to be paid to 
do this.’’ 

And so, for all the 700,000-plus who come forward, I hope we can 
continue to move diligently to get the other folks who want to par-
ticipate and maybe are not totally familiar with this, or maybe 
made a mistake or omission when they first tried to register and 
that is why they are not yet incorporated into this. 

I hope we also do some work, as was based on the questions that 
were asked earlier by the chairman and the ranking member, on 
educating the consumers so that they understand what is going on 
here. We are trying to help them be able to be better shoppers of 
those who are going to give them a professional service. 

I often cite the case of notary publics. I am from Los Angeles. 
There are lots of immigrants in LA. In a lot of countries, a notary 
public is tantamount to an attorney. And so they can perform some 
of the same services that attorneys do in their home countries. 
They come here, they see these notary publics, they hold them-
selves out as being able to provide legal services. They pay these 
notary publics a ton of money. Before you know it, these individ-
uals find out that these notaries couldn’t do anything for them, but 
they are out thousands of dollars. 

That notary public scam that goes on by that small universe of 
fraudulent notary publics should not be what we find happens here 
with paid preparers. We have had a lot of good paid preparers who 
have come forward. And they, as professionals, deserve to know 
that we, as the Federal Government, the IRS, will move forward 
diligently to make sure that we respect those who came forward as 
professionals, and bring in as many as we can as quickly as pos-
sible who want to be professionals, but then go after with a venge-
ance those who are the black market preparers. 

Mr. Chairman, thank you for the time. 
Chairman BOUSTANY. I thank the gentleman. Mr. Paulsen, you 

are recognized. 
Mr. PAULSEN. Thank you Mr. Chairman, also, for holding the 

hearing. 
I want to follow up a little bit on that line of questioning, just 

to ask Mr. Williams, you know, will taxpayers be able to look up 
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a particular PTIN holder’s history? I mean is that something a tax-
payer is going to be able to look up themselves? 

For example, let’s say that Return Preparer A has been fired 
from H&R Block or some company for stealing taxpayer informa-
tion, or something similarly egregious. Does the employer have a 
duty at that point to inform the IRS? Or will the IRS do anything 
about it? And will taxpayers be able to find out that information 
from an accessibility standpoint? 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Paulsen, we will make available through 
this database the information that we can make public about pre-
parers that we possess. And, by the way, when I talk about this 
database, it will include the registered return preparers we are 
talking about here. But we also intend to list CPAs, attorneys, and 
enrolled agents who want to be part of that, and we are going to 
work very closely with those communities, to make sure that tax-
payers understand the differences among them. 

What we will not have access to—and I am not sure that we 
could legally put on the database—would be information about dis-
putes between an employee and an employer. That would not be 
something that we would know about. 

What we would know about, though, is if there were problems 
with the tax preparer’s work, and if that preparer had been dis-
ciplined. And if that preparer had been disciplined in an ethical 
sense, under the office of professional responsibility which oversees 
ethical practice, that is public information. It occurs today with re-
gard to CPAs, attorneys, and enrolled agents. We actually publish 
that. And that information would appear on the database, as well. 

Mr. PAULSEN. Okay. And then, in terms of the accessibility of 
the information and making it available to the public, it is my un-
derstanding—and I don’t think we covered this yet, Mr. Chair-
man—but the IRS plans to have information on those that have 
registered for the PTINs available online later this year. Can you 
give us some more specifics? 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Not later this year. 
Mr. PAULSEN. So is that going to 2014? 
Mr. WILLIAMS. That is going to be the one that we will deploy 

toward the end of 2013. 
Mr. PAULSEN. Okay. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. We will have a full registry you can look up. 
Mr. PAULSEN. Can you give us some more specifics on what 

will be on that website? For example, is it going to list just the 
name, the business, the address, the—and the profession, whether 
a CPA, they’re an attorney, they’re an enrolled agent? 

Mr. WILLIAMS. You just covered most of what is going to be on 
the database. 

Mr. PAULSEN. Okay. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. In other words, the name, the contact informa-

tion that they want us to provide, the credential that they have re-
ceived, and we will also spend some time on that database having 
an explanation of what it means to be a registered return preparer, 
a CPA, an enrolled agent, or an attorney, so that folks understand 
the distinctions. 

If there has been a disciplinary proceeding that is public, that 
will also be noted on the database. So it will be a place where you 
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could look up someone in your area, if you wanted, so you will be 
able to search it by geography, for example, or you may want to 
search by credential. It isn’t going to provide intimate details about 
the preparer’s practice, but basically that they have been admitted, 
and here is how you can contact them. 

Mr. PAULSEN. So you anticipate a search function, as you men-
tioned? 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Absolutely. 
Mr. PAULSEN. Okay. And you wouldn’t need the name of the re-

turn preparer to run a search? You could search it by geography? 
Mr. WILLIAMS. That is right. If you had just moved to some-

place and you wanted to figure out, ‘‘I need someone to prepare my 
taxes,’’ you could look at somebody in that jurisdiction, or even that 
zip code, for example. 

Mr. PAULSEN. Okay. And, Mr. White, let me ask this, because 
I think the subcommittee in the past has explored the Tax Code’s 
growing complexity. And certainly the full committee has brought 
up this subject, as well, in terms of the complexity and fairness, 
simplicity. 

But the Taxpayer’s Advocate has testified before the committee 
just that there have been something like 4,400-plus tax law 
changes, just in the last 10 years alone, and Americans spent an 
estimated $163 billion trying to comply with the Tax Code. Would 
you agree that the code’s complexity, overall, is what is playing a 
role in some of the problems that the paid return preparer program 
is designed to address in the first place? 

Mr. WHITE. Yes. That is a point we have made repeatedly, the 
complexity of the Tax Code, and particularly changes to the Tax 
Code. When there is a new provision, that is something that tax-
payers then have to relearn, and preparers have to relearn. 

But it confuses people about what their tax obligations are, and 
that can lead to unintentional non-compliance. Complexity can also 
help hide intentional non-compliance, because it is harder to find, 
with the Tax Code and tax forms being as complex as they are. 

Mr. PAULSEN. Well, Mr. Chairman, I think this just goes to the 
heart of the discussion we are having today is, you know, we will 
often, I think, have a review of some of these new layers of pro-
grams that get added on. 

But hopefully the committee is going to further address the com-
plexity issue, so that individuals that end up relying on paid pre-
parers or tax preparing software won’t have to do that, and we can 
make it a lot simpler and a lot more confident, and then people 
won’t have to worry about the black marketeers or the ghost writ-
ers, et cetera. 

So, with that, I yield back. 
Chairman BOUSTANY. I thank the gentleman. We—as you 

know, we are doing tax reform. And the complexity of the code is 
a huge issue. And, as the IRS comes to us for more resources and 
the complexity grows, at some point we have to reach a balance on 
all this. 

Mr. Marchant, you are recognized. 
Mr. MARCHANT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. One of my large 

concerns has been in the past that we have had testimony before 
the committee that in the last few years alone $106 billion has 
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been refunded to taxpayers, and they were refunded and they were 
improper refunds. Money was claimed, it was returned. We have 
heard that a big amount of those mistakes were done by tax pre-
parers. And many of the false claims were actually, in my belief, 
instigated by the preparer, and not the taxpayer. 

Is there—has there been any kind of a database developed where 
you are looking at chronic—where you are looking at people that 
have been—let’s take the earned income tax credit. Are you tracing 
back farther than just the person who was affected by the return, 
and are you aware, in the case of fraud, where you are going after 
the taxpayer for fraud, is there a further step being taken? Are you 
aware of who the preparer is? 

Mr. WILLIAMS. In fact, yes. We actually have a whole program. 
We were talking earlier about the letters and the visits that we 
have been doing for the preparer community. And part of that has 
actually been driven by our experience at identifying the preparers 
that are perpetuating bad earned income credit returns. 

We literally will identify a set of people—taxpayers who have 
filed returns that are erroneous. And then you look at them, and 
you realize they were all done by the same preparer. Or, in the 
case of ghost preparers, as we have been talking about earlier, no 
one has signed the return, but there are enough patterns in them 
that suggest they were all done by the same person. And so we ac-
tually will, at that point, try and zero in on that preparer, and ac-
tually address the fraud that they are perpetuating. 

That has been going on for a couple of years. But I think with 
this program we will have a lot more information to figure out who 
is doing what, how much they are doing, and where they are, and 
be better at effectuating compliance to help ratchet down on those 
erroneous payments you were talking about. 

Mr. MARCHANT. Is the $50 fine—is that the maximum fine for 
anyone that is caught—— 

Mr. WILLIAMS. No. No, no, no. First of all, the fine is levied by 
returns. So it adds up over time. It is interesting you had men-
tioned the penalty issue, because we are looking at penalties across 
the board. We don’t think that is the first solution to every prob-
lem. But in cases like this, the National Taxpayer Advocate has 
recommended more significant penalties with regard to these kinds 
of erroneous fraudulent claims, and we are actually considering 
that, as well. 

Mr. MARCHANT. And have you had discussions with—I am sure 
there are some—have you had any discussions about possible 
criminal penalties, or charges? And have there ever been criminal 
penalties or charges brought against a preparer—— 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Absolutely. 
Mr. MARCHANT [continuing]. That has an operation going? 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Absolutely. The Criminal Investigations division 

at the IRS actually does investigate and put together cases that are 
presented to the Department of Justice. And we do shut down pre-
parers, through the criminal process, for perpetuating fraud. 

Mr. MARCHANT. I would suggest to you that those may have 
been too low-profile, and in some instances a higher-profile case 
that the media might pick up in certain areas—Congressman 
Becerra and I have many of the same concerns. I have many ghost 
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operations in my district, people that are literally going out and 
grabbing people off the sidewalk and say, ‘‘Hey, do you know I can 
get you this much money? Sign here.’’ They give half of it back, and 
these are criminal operations. 

And—but I don’t know that I have ever picked up the Dallas 
Morning News and read that someone was being prosecuted. So I 
would just suggest to you that if you get a case like that, it might 
be helpful to incorporate the media into getting the word out 
among these preparers that there is a penalty to pay for this. 

And I appreciate your efforts in this kind of enforcement. Thank 
you. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thanks. 
Chairman BOUSTANY. I thank the gentleman. Mr. Reed, you 

are recognized for questioning. 
Mr. REED. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for the testi-

mony today, to the witnesses. 
I come from a district in New York. A lot of people think New 

York is a big city all the way across the state, but the part of my 
district—my part of New York is a rural area. We are a agricul-
tural-based, high-tech-centered area. But a lot of rural space there. 

So, I am interested in your thoughts from either of you as to how 
to address the logistics of complying with the testing and the loca-
tions, the physical location. How are we going to address the rural 
areas to make sure that this requirement is not an excessive bur-
den on them? 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Yes, that is actually a great question, because 
it has been one of our concerns. We contracted with a vendor to de-
liver the testing that will open with 270 sites around the country. 
We have talked to them about looking at the population distribu-
tion to understand where we can place the sites. 

We have also informed them that if we start to see areas—yours 
is not the only one; I went to high school in Montana, and of 
course, you know, there are a couple big cities and then lots of 
space in between—there are people in those areas who need access 
to the testing, and we need to make sure that if we can’t get them, 
if it is unreasonable, that we find another way to deliver it. 

For example, a mobile van, something that will enable people to 
take those tests in a reasonable way. 

One of the other things we are trying to do, because people have 
life circumstances, even if travel is a bit of an issue, but they also 
have other things going on, as I mentioned before, is to give people 
enough time to take the test. So, for anybody who is in our system 
now who has registered since the beginning—the end of last year, 
they will have two years to take and pass the exam. So that if 
there is a way to work it into their schedule, or something like 
that, they will be able to do it. 

And we are going to monitor this very closely, to make sure that 
if people are having problems getting access in your district or in 
other areas, that we find a way to address that. 

Mr. REED. Has there been any discussions or thoughts about 
using technology, electronic, Internet, any—that type of vehicle? 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Initially, that was my solution to the whole 
thing. We will do it online, and you could do it from home. 
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The problem we have discovered—and there is a whole field of 
testing out there that I wasn’t aware of before I started this—is en-
suring that the individual who is on the other end of that trans-
action is actually who they say they are. 

Mr. REED. Sure. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. We work with a company called ProMetric. 

They administer a lot of different kinds of exams. They administer 
between 9 million and 11 million nationally and internationally 
every year, and they do it for a variety of different people. And they 
have given us some insights into how test-taking can be com-
promised, I think would be the nice way to put it. 

Mr. REED. Okay. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. And so, they encouraged us not to go on the on-

line method. It would help in the circumstance you are describing, 
but would also leave us open to a lot of potential—— 

Mr. REED. Abuse. Okay. Thank you. With that, I yield back. 
Chairman BOUSTANY. I thank the gentleman. I would like to 

thank you both for being here today, for your testimony, for the 
work you are doing to make this program successful. Please be ad-
vised that Members may have additional questions that they will 
submit, which will be part of the record, as well as any answers 
you provide. 

So, thank you, gentlemen, and we will now proceed with our sec-
ond panel of witnesses. 

[Pause.] 
Chairman BOUSTANY. Welcome to all of you, and thank you for 

being here today. I will introduce our panel, our second panel. 
First we have Ms. Kathy Pickering, who is vice president of gov-

ernment relations, and executive director of the Tax Institute at 
H&R Block. 

Secondly, we have Ms. Patricia Thompson, who is chair of the 
tax executive committee for the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. 

Thirdly, Mr. Paul Cinquemani, who is director of member serv-
ices, business development, and government relations for the Na-
tional Association of Tax Professionals. 

Next, Mr. Lonnie Gary, enrolled agent in USTCP, chair for the 
National Association of Enrolled Agents, government relations com-
mittee. 

And Mr. David Rothstein, a researcher for Policy Matters Ohio, 
and also a research fellow at the New America Foundation. Again, 
I want to thank all of you for being here today. You will each have 
five minutes to present your testimony with your full written testi-
mony submitted for the record. 

Ms. Pickering, you may begin. 

STATEMENT OF KATHY PICKERING, VICE PRESIDENT, GOV-
ERNMENT RELATIONS, & EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, THE TAX 
INSTITUTE, H&R BLOCK, KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI 

Ms. PICKERING. Chairman Boustany, Ranking Member Lewis, 
and Members of the Subcommittee on Oversight, thank you for in-
viting H&R Block to present our views on the IRS return preparer 
initiative. 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 21:55 Dec 16, 2011 Jkt 070890 PO 00000 Frm 00047 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6602 I:\WAYS\OUT\70890.XXX 70890kg
ra

nt
 o

n 
D

S
K

H
R

R
P

4G
1P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 H

E
A

R
IN

G
S



44 

We commend David Williams and the IRS return preparer pro-
gram office for their efforts to create an efficient and effective regu-
latory program for the tax preparation industry. We support the 
IRS in this initiative. In my comments today I will provide the con-
text for why the issue of tax preparer regulation is vital to H&R 
Block, and address our concerns and our recommendations for im-
proving this important regulatory initiative. 

H&R Block is the leading provider of tax preparation services. 
We have about 97,000 tax preparers in 11,000 offices, 40 percent 
of which are small business-owned. Many are located in rural 
areas. While we do support the overarching goals of the VPI pro-
gram, we have a few concerns. 

First, the competency exam has created redundancies and unnec-
essary costs for H&R Block, totaling over $20 million. H&R Block’s 
process for training and quality control has been the industry gold 
standard for 39 years. Our tax preparers, at a minimum, must take 
our 84-hour basic income tax course, receive a passing grade, pass 
a criminal background check, and complete at least 24 hours of 
continuing education each year. The IRS program will only require 
15 hours of continuing education annually. 

It is important to note that when Congress debated the Taxpayer 
Bill of Rights of 2008, there was bipartisan support for H&R 
Block’s competency testing to be certified for IRS purposes. H&R 
Block strongly recommends that the IRS develop a program review 
process to certify proven programs like ours, or those in California 
and Oregon. 

Our second concern is that compliance, enforcement, and meas-
urement programs have yet to be defined. Without this, it will be 
impossible to know which actions did or did not result in improved 
compliance. Given the considerable costs of implementing the re-
turn preparer program, we hope to see that the benefits of this pro-
gram are commensurate with the expense. 

Finally, H&R Block would like to work with the IRS to create a 
group or mass registration renewal and payment process. A group 
process would save time and money for the IRS and tax preparers. 

In conclusion, I would like to thank you for the opportunity to 
provide H&R Block’s perspective and recommendations. We com-
mend the IRS for creating the return preparer program office. This 
was an important step in strengthening the relationship between 
the IRS and the tax preparation industry. David Williams’s experi-
ence and leadership will ensure that the initiative is ultimately 
successful. 

Despite our concerns, we remain committed to the goals and ob-
jectives of the program. We look forward to continuing to work with 
the IRS, to raising the standards of professionalism and integrity 
in our industry, and we are confident that the American taxpayer 
and the tax administration system will benefit from our collective 
efforts. Thank you. 

[The prepared statement of Ms. Pickering follows:] 
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Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you, Ms. Pickering. 
Ms. Thompson, you may proceed. 
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STATEMENT OF PATRICIA THOMPSON, CHAIR, AICPA TAX EX-
ECUTIVE COMMITTEE, AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED 
PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS, WASHINGTON, D.C. 

Ms. THOMPSON. Good morning, Chairman, Ranking Member 
Lewis, and Members of the Subcommittee. My name is Pat Thomp-
son. I am a CPA and chair of the AICPA Tax Executive Committee. 
I am also the partner at Piccerelli, Gilstein & Company, LLP, lo-
cated in Providence, Rhode Island. Thank you for the opportunity 
to appear here today. 

It has been a year-and-a-half since the IRS released its report on 
the paid tax return preparer community. The AICPA has been a 
steadfast supporter of the IRS goal of enhancing compliance and 
elevating ethical conduct. Ensuring that tax return preparers are 
competent and ethical is critical to maintaining taxpayer con-
fidence in our tax system. Indeed, these goals are consistent with 
the AICPA’s own code of conduct and enforceable tax ethical stand-
ards. 

We believe the IRS should be commended for their efforts in the 
implementation of the return preparer program. Specifically, the 
IRS has devoted an unprecedented amount of time to listening to 
stakeholders’ concerns and suggestions regarding the program, and 
made numerous changes and adjustments. 

Since the release of the report, and as the IRS has moved to im-
plement its recommendation, the IRS—I’m sorry, the AICPA has 
expressed its concern regarding specific aspects of the program. 

One concern we had was the initial proposal to subject non-sign-
ing staff of CPA firms who are supervised by CPAs to the entire 
regulatory regime applicable to registered tax return preparers, in-
cluding testing and specific continuing education requirements. 
However, we believe the changes adopted by IRS in notice 2011– 
6 confirm the Service’s recognition of the inherent regulatory re-
gime within which CPAs and other circular 230 legacy practi-
tioners already practice, as well as the fact that CPA firms must 
stand, as a matter of licensure, behind the work done by its mem-
bers and employees of the firm. 

We believe these changes are appropriately focusing the program 
on the unenrolled preparer community that was implicated in GAO 
and TIGTA compliance studies cited in the IRS report. 

The AICPA supports the tax return preparer program as it is 
structured today. Specifically, we support registering tax return 
preparers and the issuance of unique taxpayer [sic] identification 
numbers. Registration will allow the accumulation of important 
data on specific preparers, as well as classes of preparers, as a way 
that will allow the IRS to tailor compliance and education pro-
grams in the most efficient manner, expanding the ethical umbrella 
of circular 230 over all paid income tax preparers. 

Unenrolled preparers had previously not been subjected to the 
ethical guidance of circular 230, nor the circular sanctions on im-
proper conduct. Creating a continuing education construct geared 
towards the unenrolled preparer community. We appreciate the 
Service’s adoption in the recently-issued package of final regula-
tions under circular 230 of modification to last year’s proposed reg-
ulations regarding continuing education. 
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Including a basic 1040-oriented examination as an aspect of be-
coming a registered tax return preparer, moving away from a 
multi-tiered testing structure in order to focus on the basics is the 
correct remedial approach for the unenrolled preparer community 
that was, again, implicated in GAO and TIGTA compliance study. 
We also believe that having one examination would be less con-
fusing to taxpayers in understanding the relative qualifications of 
the different classes of tax return preparers. 

With regard to taxpayer confusion regarding relative qualifica-
tions, the IRS recognized this problem through the recent issuance 
of notice 2011–45, which constrains registered tax return preparers 
from misleading advertising and solicitation, and will require them 
to use the following statement in ads. 

The IRS does not endorse any particular individual tax return 
preparer. For more information on the tax return preparers, go to 
IRS.gov. We are confident that the IRS website will contain the ad-
ditional information that taxpayers will need to make appropriate 
choices concerning selection of a tax advisor. 

We also believe that any public database developed by IRS that 
is designed to serve as a look-up function where taxpayers may 
search for their preparer should be structured to mitigate any tax-
payer confusion regarding relative qualifications. We are pleased 
with the work the IRS has undertaken with regard to its tax pre-
parer program, and want to emphasize our overall support. 

We share the Service’s interest in improving tax administration, 
and protecting the tax-paying public. We look forward to working 
on the IRS as they continue to implement the program. 

Thank you again for the opportunity to testify, and I would be 
happy to answer any of your questions. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Thompson follows:] 
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Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you, Ms. Thompson. 
Mr. Cinquemani, you may proceed. 
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STATEMENT OF PAUL CINQUEMANI, DIRECTOR OF MEMBER 
SERVICES, BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND GOVERNMENT 
RELATIONS, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF TAX PROFES-
SIONALS, APPLETON, WISCONSIN 

Mr. CINQUEMANI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Chairman 
Boustany, Ranking Member Lewis, Members of the Subcommittee, 
we thank you for the opportunity to speak to you regarding our 
thoughts on what we consider to be the important issues stemming 
from a review of the return preparer review recommendations. 

The IRS is following most recommendations on publication 4832. 
Long-term plans more detailed than that have not been made 
available to stakeholders. We know for certain, though, that before 
December 31 of 2013, affected tax preparers will have to be reg-
istered, suitable, tested, and educated, or they will not be per-
mitted to continue as tax return preparers. 

NATP is pleased that the process has led out with registration. 
We have long counseled that relevant, accurate data is needed be-
fore the IRS can determine the extent of its preparer population, 
and then hone in on identifying the perpetrators of problems. Until 
then, any systemic approach to mitigating the tax gap or ridding 
Administration of the unscrupulous and incompetent is speculative. 

Registration, combined with mandatory eFiling will hereafter 
give the government the ability to know not only its population of 
preparers, but also to match them with the work they do. And we 
will finally be able to really know who does good work and who 
does not. 

Implementation so far seems reasonable, in terms of its pro-
ficiency. Considering the size of the task, amazing progress has 
been made. However, there appears to be an imbalance in treating 
affected tax preparers fairly. We have noted evidence which leads 
to such impressions. Here are some example. 

Number one, Section 10.3 of circular 230 literally prevents af-
fected tax preparers from giving pre-transaction or other timely ad-
vice to their clients. The result of such a provision is counter-intu-
itive to good tax administration. It is also an egregious restraint of 
trade. It either puts taxpayers in harm’s way because they will not 
become compliant, or it forces affected tax preparers out of busi-
ness because they cannot compete with those who are permitted to 
give such advice. 

Third example—or, excuse me, second, the late decision to carve 
out preparers who are adequately supervised by attorneys, CPAs, 
and EAs, and the competitive advantage it gives the firms that are 
so exempted. 

Third, the change to requiring registration every year, instead of 
every three years, and the cost it poses to practitioners and to the 
IRS. 

And, fourth, the need to delay continuing education requirements 
until calendar year 2012. 

While communication of such developments indicates that 
progress is being made, the items just mentioned cause concern on 
the part of those whose livelihoods are on the line. The impact of 
the affected preparer community should be predictable under the 
circumstances. As we educate our members on these developments, 
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those that must take the competency examination in order to stay 
in business naturally have some concerns. 

Many affected NATP members have registered the following with 
us. Overall, they are very distressed at the ostensible threat to 
their businesses. They want to study for and take the examination 
immediately. Since their average age is 56, it has been a little 
while since they have had to take an examination. And this one 
they see as an examination that determines whether or not they 
get to continue their livelihood or not. So they do, indeed, have test 
anxiety. 

They believe that they are being singled out as though they are 
responsible for all the unscrupulous behavior and incompetence in 
the preparation of tax returns. They believe that they are discrimi-
nated against on the basis of credentials. Some are going to retire. 
They are just going to work up to December 31, 2013, and then end 
it. Others are selling their practices. Still others are selling to 
credentialed professionals, and staying on to make their likelihood. 

And for some, the restrain of trade provisions in revised circular 
230 were the last straw. They talk of taking to the courts. NATP 
is concerned that the tax administration system will be harmed by 
a loss of capable preparers that provide for the current compliance 
enjoyed by the system. We believe that many of these problems can 
be alleviated with reasonable and economic tweaks in the process, 
going forward. 

We recommend the following. First, remove the specific restraint 
of trade provision in Section 10.3(f)3 of circular 230. On its face, 
regulators should be very interested that taxpayers are informed. 
At equity, preparers should not be put in a position of having to 
refer their clients to competitors for advice in the course of plan-
ning, emergencies, or any other instance in which taxpayers need 
help with compliance. At a minimum, change the wording to reflect 
that registered tax return preparers may give needed advice to 
their clients, but that such advice will not be considered confiden-
tial or privileged, as such communication has meaning under code 
Section 7525. 

The IRS should exercise more caution implementing this pro-
gram, especially in light of their current resource limitations, until 
better information can be obtained through matching PTINs with 
problem returns. 

And a final recommendation. Building a program model that can 
keep small business preparers in place, thereby assuring jobs and 
livelihoods that can provide for healthy competition, and therefore, 
better serve the taxpayer and the tax administration system. 
Thank you. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Cinquemani follows:] 
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Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you, Mr. Cinquemani. 
Mr. Gary, you are recognized for five minutes. 
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STATEMENT OF LONNIE GARY, EA, USTCP CHAIR, NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION OF ENROLLED AGENTS GOVERNMENT RELA-
TIONS COMMITTEE, WASHINGTON, D.C. 
Mr. GARY. On behalf of the National Association of Enrolled 

Agents, NAEA, and 43,000 enrolled agents, I want to thank the 
chairman, the ranking member, and the subcommittee, for the invi-
tation to testify on the IRS’s efforts to provide new standards for 
and oversight of unlicensed paid return preparers. 

EAs have, for some time, supported the efforts to bring order to 
the chaos all too easily found in the return preparer community. 
More recently, we applauded a number of early decisions by IRS, 
including elements unpopular with many in the industry, such as 
a requirement for both mandatory competency testing, and for con-
tinued professional education for all non-legacy circular 230 practi-
tioners. 

Clearly, IRS has kept its eye on the prize: protecting taxpayers 
by adopting a variety of taxpayer safeguards, establishing an IRS 
process for disciplining preparers, and placing the Office of Profes-
sional Responsibility in charge of ethical behavior, using the exist-
ing penalty structure for failure to sign a return and/or failure to 
provide a valid PTIN, and relying on registration fees to cover pro-
gram administration and enforcement. 

EAs believe self-funding is essential for ensuring adequate re-
sources for full program implementation. Our main area of concern, 
however, is that the registered tax return preparers will be tested 
only on the most basic elements of individual income tax returns, 
but be permitted to prepare all income tax returns. Those who have 
taken a basic test would be able to market themselves as qualified 
to meet all tax preparation needs. Such an outcome protects only 
a portion of the tax-paying public. And, frankly, we don’t under-
stand why IRS insists on protecting some taxpayers, but not those 
with the most complex returns. 

We believe that taxpayers and the tax community are better 
served by the basic proposition that tax returns should only be 
done by a preparer who has shown competency through testing on 
that particular return. IRS could achieve this by creating a tiered 
credentialing with a limited credential, the registered tax return 
preparer, and unlimited credentials: EAs, CPAs, and attorneys. 

Under a tiered system, legacy circular 230 practitioners would be 
authorized to prepare all tax returns, as under the current system, 
and would be granted unlimited practice before IRS. The newly 
credentialed would demonstrate competency on basic individual tax 
issues by passing an augmented part one of the special enrollment 
exam, and then be granted authority to prepare the basic return, 
along with limited representation authority. 

IRS could enforce this regime simply through computer matching 
of PTINs to the type of return. We believe that, without a tiered 
approach to credentialing, small business taxpayers, in particular, 
will suffer unnecessarily. We suggest it is reasonable to hold paid 
preparers responsible for the special compliance issues associated 
with small business taxpayers. 

I close by touching on two issues of great importance: promotion 
and enforcement. IRS must continue to reach out to all segments 
of the paid preparer community to explain what is expected, going 
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forward, into the next filing season. Nothing demonstrates this bet-
ter than the fact that IRS recently identified roughly 100,000 re-
turn preparers who failed to comply with the new PTIN regulations 
for the 2011 filing season. 

Even more importantly, IRS must begin now to explain the new 
oversight rules to the public. Changes of this magnitude are likely 
to cause confusion among consumers, particularly as some paid 
preparers are bound to promote their practices in an unfamiliar, 
and possibly misleading, fashion. 

We also remain concerned that many non-compliant preparers 
will continue to set up shop in certain targeted communities 
around this country, and continue exploiting less sophisticated tax-
payers. The public will be our best defense against these individ-
uals, but they must understand that they should only use qualified 
preparers. 

The public must also understand the difference between the new 
registered tax return preparers and the legacy circular 230 practi-
tioners. This won’t be easy, but it is necessary for the integrity of 
this process, and it needs to start now. 

Promotion alone is not enough. The significant effort IRS is ex-
pending on preparer oversight will be for naught, absent a credible 
enforcement apparatus. Both taxpayers and qualified practitioners 
need a single point of contact at IRS to refer instances of suspected 
non-compliance. The Service must be prepared to pursue and pun-
ish to the full extent of the law parties who continue to prepare re-
turns outside the new regulatory framework. 

I thank you for allowing the National Association of Enrolled 
Agents to testify today, and I look forward to your questions. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Gary follows:] 
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Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you, Mr. Gary. 
Mr. Rothstein, you may proceed. 

STATEMENT OF DAVID ROTHSTEIN, RESEARCHER, POLICY 
MATTERS OHIO, RESEARCH FELLOW, THE NEW AMERICA 
FOUNDATION, CLEVELAND, OHIO 

Mr. ROTHSTEIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Chairman 
Boustany, Ranking Member Lewis, and Members of the Sub-
committee, thank you for giving me the opportunity to testify on 
behalf of Policy Matters Ohio, the New America Foundation, and 
the National Community Tax Coalition. 

My research is primarily focused on the financial status and 
socio-economic challenges experienced by the millions of low and 
moderate income tax filers in the United States. And my comments 
reflect the perspective of those who provide free tax assistance to 
help these individuals through the VITA program. 

My testimony today is based on the following four premises: one, 
low and moderate-income tax filers need and deserve high-quality, 
affordable options with regard to tax preparation assistance. The 
costs and approaches of paid tax preparation services should be 
transparent, and easy for consumers of such services to under-
stand. 

Several exemptions related to the new paid preparer regulations 
were established in response to issues raised by the paid preparer 
industry itself. And there are—and, number four, there are several 
implementation challenges that can be easily modified or resolved, 
so that the process can best serve working families, moving for-
ward. 

Let me start again by commending the IRS for undertaking this 
large effort of regulating, educating, and tracking paid tax pre-
parers. This process is critical for both the tax preparation sector 
and millions of clients who use their services. The overall goal was 
to increase tax compliance and ensure that taxpayers were knowl-
edgeable, ethical, and skilled. 

The registration process, in our view, is crucial to track problem 
tax preparers, prevent the loss of income and revenue from inflated 
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and poorly prepared returns, maximize the intent and delivery of 
refundable tax credits, and allow consumers to comparison shop 
with full information in the marketplace. 

That being said, we continue to have concerns about the registra-
tion process, and the interpretation of guidelines related to this ini-
tiative. We have some suggestions today that we believe can help. 

One concern relates to the delayed registration of some 100,000 
paid tax preparers with the IRS. Additionally, the data from this 
past tax filing season confirms that an extremely high number of 
fly-by-night paid tax preparation sites set up for a few weeks, 
charge high fees, and complete subpar and error-riddled returns. 
At worst, the preparers are totally disingenuous, targeting elderly 
and low-income filers, and selling them unnecessary services re-
lated to transferring funds, recovery rebates, and exaggerated re-
funds and Social Security claims, even after tax season. 

A recent wave of claims has suggested that several companies 
have misled consumers by imitating the IRS or associates of some 
fashion. The damage, in terms of taxpayers’ faith in the tax prepa-
ration sector has been significant. And these continued abuses fly 
in the face of this new registration program. The consumer commu-
nity is concerned about enforcement, not just after these occur, but 
in preventing them before they occur. 

A second issue of concern for taxpayers relates to who is covered 
by the regulations. To be clear, we strongly believe that anyone 
who the client thinks is a tax preparer should be registered and re-
quired to complete continuing education. The guidance from the 
IRS on this is helpful, but we are concerned about how it will be 
enforced and monitored. 

VITA site clients commonly report to us that when they have en-
gaged the services of certain paid preparers—generally the fly-by- 
night ones—the bulk of their return is typically completed by one 
person, where tax law informed knowledge is necessary, and when 
the return is signed by a paid preparer at the end, they barely look 
at the return at all. Or, worse, the return is not signed at all. 

We implore the litmus test of who the client thinks is doing their 
taxes be used as a benchmark in some fashion. Additionally, we 
think it is vital that the test for certification be no less stringent 
than the existing individual 1040 section of the enrolled agents 
exam. 

A third issue surrounds promotion and outreach for this new pro-
gram. The majority of low and moderate-income families are un-
aware of this new registration requirement. They do not under-
stand what these credentials mean, and how this program matters 
to them. Consumers need to know which preparer can do what 
services for them, and what credentials are required by preparers 
to perform such services. 

Finally, a fourth issue of concern is transparency around process 
and cost. Over the last decade, for several reasons, the price of paid 
tax preparation has steadily increased. Most of the time, total price 
is not provided to them until the return is completely prepared. 
Under this new program we suggested disclosure and transparency 
process which provides a baseline of fees and costs associated with 
preparing the return. The fees do not have to be universal. But 
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rather, an estimate for comparison purposes to understand the fee 
structure upon completion. 

Additionally, there needs to be a centralized toll free phone num-
ber and database for complaints, which Mr. Williams addressed 
earlier. Similar to researching a housing contractor or auto repair 
facility using the Better Business Bureau, taxpayers should be able 
to research their tax preparer for type of registration, education, 
credentials, and performance. 

In sum, we believe this regulation process for paid preparers is 
needed and appropriate. We appreciate the opportunity to testify 
before you on the consumer perspective related to paid tax prepara-
tion. 

I am happy to answer any questions. Thank you, sir. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Rothstein follows:] 
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Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. I have a question for all the 
panelists. A very basic question. And that is, clearly when you’re 
starting a new program like this, communication is important. And 
you have all touched on it. 

So, I would like each of you to comment on what did the IRS do 
well, and what did not work in their communication program on 
the new requirements, particularly for those who are not associated 
with a large firm or association. Give me your perspective on the 
state of play right now on the communication process. What 
worked? What didn’t? I would like each of you to comment, if you 
would. 

Ms. THOMPSON. I will go first, if you like. We found that the 
IRS was very willing to listen to everything that we had to say, 
and their door was always open. So we felt that there was good 
communication. And we would expect that communication to con-
tinue, going forward. So we were very happy with the process. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Okay. Ms. Pickering? 
Ms. PICKERING. H&R Block has a direct line of communication 

with the program office. We are able to have regular dialogue, feed-
back and input with the IRS, and can share that with our tax pro-
fessionals. 

However, it seems direct communication to the tax professional 
community is challenging for the IRS. Obviously, it is a large com-
munity, that’s difficult to reach. I think the IRS is continuing to 
work on that, through the IRS forums and those kinds of things. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. Mr. Cinquemani? 
Mr. CINQUEMANI. Perhaps the fact that we are located in Ap-

pleton, Wisconsin, rather than right here in Washington, D.C. 
might have some bearing on some of the communication that goes 
on day-to-day here within the IRS. But we have generally been 
very pleased with our ability to communicate with the Internal 
Revenue Service. We found the new registered preparer’s office, in 
particular, very forthcoming and very helpful. 

There was some rocky start kinds of things, which you would ex-
pect in a program of this magnitude, and wide ranging. But we are 
very pleased. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. Mr. Gary? 
Mr. GARY. Yes. The National Association of Enrolled Agents has 

had a very good relationship with the IRS in formulating this proc-
ess. We have had very good feedback and deliberations with them. 

I think the area where we have some concern is that, as Mr. Wil-
liams had indicated in his earlier testimony, the public will not be 
notified of the process until far downstream. We believe the public 
should be on board now. They should know that their preparer 
should be signing their return, and should have a valid PTIN. And 
that is information that I think is a little bit lacking, and should 
be improved upon by the IRS. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. That is helpful. Thank you. And Mr. 
Rothstein? 

Mr. ROTHSTEIN. Thank you. Yes, the VITA community has 
been welcomed, and we have worked with the IRS on this process. 
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So we did feel like our comments were included through IRS and 
through other folks. 

We do share the concern, again, about outreach and promotion, 
as was just mentioned. Our clients and other low and moderate-in-
come families just don’t understand what is going on, or what will 
happen in the years to come. So the sooner we get it out there, I 
think, the better. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. And, as you all know, on top 
of the $64.25 PTIN application fee, preparers will have a required 
competency exam. There will be fingerprinting, continuing edu-
cation requirements. So, just a basic question. In your perspective, 
how will these new costs affect preparers? And will we see an in-
crease in prices, in reduced access? Is that a potential problem, 
with regard to consumers? I would like each of you to briefly com-
ment on that, as well. 

Ms. PICKERING. As we had discussed in our testimony, H&R 
Block is deeply concerned about the additional fees for the com-
petency testing and the fingerprinting as well as the travel costs 
to get to testing sites. 

We are wondering, if we will start losing tax preparers who want 
to end their careers because of the difficulty of complying with 
these regulations. Unfortunately, this would then result in limited 
service and fewer people available to prepare tax returns. If that 
were to happen in rural areas, then there is just that much less 
service for the members of that community. 

So we are trying to be very supportive of our tax preparers, to 
help them as much as possible to navigate these requirements. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. Ms. Thompson? 
Ms. THOMPSON. Okay. I am going to answer this from the gen-

eral population, because, working as a CPA, we don’t have the 
same testing and CPE requirements that the IRS has in place, be-
cause we already have our own testing and our own CPE, so we 
have our costs that are already there, and it is just not building 
on it. 

But we do think that the IRS should be cautious about the total 
cost of the program for the individual tax preparers that are going 
to be involved in this. And that would include all aspects of it, 
whether it is the testing, whether it is the CE, whether it is the 
suitability check, whatever it might be. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. Mr. Cinquemani? 
Mr. CINQUEMANI. As we have noted, many small businesses, 

particularly some of the preparers that only do between 50—like 50 
and 100 returns, for example, have a difficult time passing that on. 
They got into the business and into a niche, so to speak, by pre-
paring what they consider to be very good services at a very rea-
sonable fee for people. 

Some of them left a practice that they were in, and in retirement 
they have a great many people that they still service. They are 
aware of their clients’ financial needs and restrictions. And they 
are concerned about having to pass those prices on. They develop 
relationships in this manner over such a long period of time, that 
it is difficult for them to deal, for small business in particular. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. Mr. Gary? 
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Mr. GARY. Yes. The enrolled agent community also is not af-
fected directly by the pricing structure set up for registered return 
preparers. We are aware of the burden that the pricing might 
cause for individual practitioners. But, from an—the cost of edu-
cation, we feel, is a cost of doing business, and we hope that the 
IRS will be very cognizant of the overall burden that is placed on 
registered return preparers in the form of fees. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. And Mr. Rothstein? 
Mr. ROTHSTEIN. Yes. We share the same concerns about in-

creases in prices. But at the same time, we feel that we would 
weigh more heavily on the knowledgeable and ethical returns, and 
would agree that the cost of doing business would supersede that. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. 
Mr. ROTHSTEIN. Thank you. 
Chairman BOUSTANY. Mr. Lewis? 
Mr. LEWIS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to thank each one 

of you for being here today. I appreciated just listening to your tes-
timony and reading your biographical sketch. I want to thank you 
for all of your great work in this area. 

Mr. Rothstein, I want to ask you—I think you made it clear— 
I think four of you, at least—made it very clear that you support 
the program, as presented by the IRS. And maybe one of you has 
some reservation. But Mr. Rothstein, why is the program so impor-
tant? 

Mr. ROTHSTEIN. Thank you, Mr. Lewis, for the question. The 
program is so important because, as many—it has been discussed 
before today that nearly 8 in 10 families who are filing their taxes 
are either using software or are paying to do so. 

The returns often times at our VITA sites—at the free tax sites 
and free tax clinics that we work with—what we see are people 
who have had bad returns done for several years. And the need for 
correction on those is pretty intense. And we feel that in this sec-
tor, there needs to be some benchmarks in there, and there needs 
to be a good registration process. 

Also, this is a very important time of year for low and moderate- 
income families. It is often the most important time of the year for 
them, where they can see upwards of one-eighth of their annual in-
come in a tax refund. So it becomes a very important and crucial 
time for them. And we think that that requires some serious edu-
cation and sort of standings. Because right now there is a lot of 
confusion in the marketplace of who can perform what service, 
where people should go for what service. And we think that this 
would dramatically improve that. 

At the state level, in California and Oregon, and even in—re-
cently in Maryland, when these types of paid tax preparation regu-
lations were passed, there were similar discussions. And one of the 
things that consistently came up was, as a hair dresser, you have 
to be registered, but as a tax preparer you don’t. And, even though 
a bad haircut is obviously very bad, at the same time, a bad tax 
return is even worse. 

Mr. LEWIS. Thank you. Mr. Rothstein, your testimony rec-
ommended that the IRS establish a central number and database 
for complaints. How would this help compliance? 
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Mr. ROTHSTEIN. Sure. I think what would happen is many tax 
filers, when they are looking for somebody to perform this service, 
would be able to do sort of their homework before they go into the 
shop or the store, and they would be able to look at the database 
and say, ‘‘Okay, within my zip code there are 10 preparers, and 
these are their credentials, and they have a satisfactory and good 
rating with the IRS right now. So 5 of the 10 of them, I am going 
to go and look at.’’ 

But right now, there is really no way to do that. You don’t know, 
as a consumer, before you walk into the store, what kind of service 
you are going to get. 

Mr. LEWIS. Thank you. Mr. Gary, I believe you traveled the 
greatest distance to be here. All the way from California, am I—— 

Mr. GARY. That is correct, sir. 
Mr. LEWIS. From northern California? 
Mr. GARY. Yes. 
Mr. LEWIS. Okay. Well, thank you so much for being here. Do 

you think the average taxpayer understands the program? 
Mr. GARY. Taxpayer? No, actually, I don’t think the average tax-

payer understands the program at all, and that is because the IRS 
has failed to do outreach to the public. Right now there is a signifi-
cant number of people that go to—I think as Congressman Becerra 
pointed out—the ghost preparers, or the black market preparers. 
There is a significant number of tax returns that are filed where 
a preparer has been paid for their services, but they do not sign 
the tax return, and have not obtained a valid PTIN. 

So, I think, with outreach to the public and making the public 
aware of their requirement to get a qualified tax return preparer 
in order to do their tax return, is vital. 

Mr. LEWIS. Thank you very much. I thank each one of you for 
being here. You have been very helpful. I yield back, Mr. Chair-
man. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you, Mr. Lewis. Ms. Jenkins? 
Ms. JENKINS. Thank you, Mr. Chair. Thank you for having a 

second panel. And I would like to thank our panelists for all taking 
time to be here today. 

Ms. Pickering, in your written testimony you raised the issue of 
working with the IRS to create a group PTIN registration renewal 
process as a way to simplify the administration and the new re-
quirements. Can you describe how this group registration would 
function, how it would save time and money for the IRS, and what 
it would mean for your individual tax preparers? 

Ms. PICKERING. Thank you. Let me start by describing the 
process that we went through this year to register our tax pre-
parers. As I mentioned, we have 97,000 tax preparers, a portion of 
which are enrolled agents. And so, for them, as well as all the oth-
ers, we needed to ensure that their PTINs were applied for. 

Not all of our tax preparers have computers at home or Internet 
access. Not all of them have credit cards. Their personal situations 
vary. So H&R Block hosted registration parties. In the fall, we in-
vited all of our tax preparers into the offices, so that we could pro-
vide access to computers, access to the online systems, and then 
use our corporate credit card to pay for their registration. It was 
important to us to support our associates, and so we were paying 
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for their registration, as well. This consumed a lot of time and en-
ergy around an action that simple. 

We also had to modify our internal systems: our payroll, human 
resources, and tax preparation systems, so that we could have in-
ternal controls to ensure that our associates all had PTINs, so that 
when they were preparing their returns, the PTINs were all reg-
istered, as well. 

With a group registration process, we would be able to renew, 
register, and create a file, ideally, that we would send to the IRS, 
and they could, through a batch process, update their files. This is 
a process that we worked out with New York the prior year—be-
cause New York has a state registration system—and it was a way 
to alleviate the extra time and administrative burden that was as-
sociated with this very fundamental process. 

Ms. JENKINS. Okay, thank you. I would be curious if any of the 
other members of the panel feel like they would benefit from a 
group registration option. 

Ms. THOMPSON. I am with a staff of 50, and we did have all 
of the individuals do the registration. They are all in our office 
every day, so we don’t have the same type of issues that an H&R 
Block would, where they don’t have access to the computer. So they 
actually had it as part of their workday, and we did have to mon-
itor at the end that they did have their PTINs, and they were 
ready to go at the beginning of the season. 

Ms. JENKINS. Okay. Anybody else want to comment? 
[No response.] 
Ms. JENKINS. All right. One of the goals for testing and tax re-

turn checks is to catch bad actors in the tax return preparer world, 
as a means to improve compliance. However, the IRS has not cre-
ated a clear measurement for taxpayer compliance, and there is no 
defined compliance and enforcement program yet in place when the 
bad actors are identified. 

So I just would like all of you maybe to comment briefly in detail 
any concerns in these areas, and any recommendations that you 
might have to improve the program in your areas. Ms. Pickering? 

Ms. PICKERING. I would like to start. H&R Block has com-
mented recently on the EITC due diligence requirements, and some 
of the challenges that we see with that program, specifically when 
the IRS is conducting the EITC audits. Their audit standards have 
not been published, and the auditors all have subjective approaches 
to the implementation of their standards. 

And so, we would like to have published standards that say, 
‘‘This is,’’ for example, ‘‘what the EITC due diligence guidelines and 
standards must be, and when we are conducting an audit it must 
comply with these certain attributes.’’ When we have an objective, 
measurable standard like that, we will be able to perform to that 
standard. 

Ms. JENKINS. Okay. Any other thoughts? 
Ms. THOMPSON. I would think one of the things that David 

Williams had mentioned was the 10,000 letters and the 2,500 office 
visits. Maybe there is some work that can be done in that area to 
better target the individuals that are actually the bad actors. That 
might be helpful. 

Ms. JENKINS. Okay, thank you. I yield back, Mr. Chairman. 
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Mr. CINQUEMANI. I would like to make one comment with re-
gard to that, if I may, please. I think we need to keep in mind here 
that basically what we are doing is regulating a large population 
of those who are already compliant, or are certainly interested in 
already being compliant, so that when it comes to looking at those 
who are unscrupulous, and even incompetent, they are flying under 
the radar of a lot of the systems. 

And I don’t know how the return preparer’s office can be held re-
sponsible for ferreting those people out. It would seem to me that 
that would be an investigative and enforcement function of perhaps 
the criminal investigation division of the Internal Revenue Service. 

Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. Mr. Becerra? 
Mr. BECERRA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you all for 

your testimony. Mr. Rothstein, let me ask you a question. I think 
Mr. Williams, in his testimony, said that one of the concerns that 
many have raised—and you being one of them—is that we need to 
make sure that we establish some form of public database of pre-
parers, so we can give the consumer a chance to understand who— 
which preparers are in good standing, who has been the bad apple 
and who has done work right. 

Is it your sense that IRS is moving forward with that proposal 
to establish such a database? 

Mr. ROTHSTEIN. My sense is that it is definitely in their time 
frame and framework to do so. We think the sooner, the better, ob-
viously. And our hope is that the more data that is available on 
that database, the better, as well. We—— 

Mr. BECERRA. So the sooner the better? 
Mr. ROTHSTEIN. The sooner the better. 
Mr. BECERRA. So there is—IRS says they are trying to estab-

lish that database. You are not saying no, you are just saying try 
to get it sooner than later? 

Mr. ROTHSTEIN. Absolutely. 
Mr. BECERRA. What about—you have another recommendation 

about providing transparency and disclosure of paid tax preparer 
fees in a manner that would be similar to what we see right now 
with a credit card fee disclosure box. 

Do you know if IRS is moving forward with that recommenda-
tion? 

Mr. ROTHSTEIN. Representative Becerra, my sense is that I 
have not heard that being the case. I would follow up with the IRS 
and ask. But, to my knowledge, no, they are not. 

Mr. BECERRA. We can follow up on that. I think that is a good 
idea, again, to give consumers a chance to understand. It is the 
buyer beware sort of caution, that you give consumers as much in-
formation in advance, so they can make decisions, so we don’t have 
to try to remedy problems later on. So thank you for that. 

Mr. Gary, quick question for you. Do you think that preparers 
should be required—these preparers that would get registered— 
should be required to take the same type of test for preparation of 
individual tax returns as you and your folks who are enrolled 
agents do? 

Mr. GARY. Yes, I do. Thank you for the opportunity to address 
that question. 

Mr. BECERRA. And if you could, do it quickly—— 
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Mr. GARY. Yes. 
Mr. BECERRA [continuing]. Because I don’t have much time. 
Mr. GARY. The IRS has a proven test for individual tax com-

petence, and that is Part I of the special enrollment examination. 
It would save the taxpayer money, it would save the government 
money, if the Part I were used. 

Mr. BECERRA. And I wish we had more time, because I think 
many people might be watching this, and not quite understanding 
what the difference is between the different types of folks who pre-
pare. You’ve got CPAs who probably are as skilled and trained as 
you can find, when it comes to someone who could prepare a tax 
return for you. You have got enrolled agents who are also skilled 
and have been certified by the IRS. And so you’ve got a lot of dif-
ferent levels. You’ve got attorneys who can do this, as well. And 
then you’ve got organizations like H&R Block, who have been doing 
this for decades. 

And so, it would be helpful, I think, for consumers to understand 
what the difference is, so they know what they are getting for the 
money. 

Mr. Cinquemani, if I could ask you a question, I am a little con-
cerned by some of your testimony. I appreciate that you are here, 
I appreciate your membership being here, but I am a little con-
cerned that you make it sound like what we are trying to do 
through this registration and testing of qualifications might drive 
someone out of business. 

You mention, for example, the small operation, someone who 
does 50 to 100 returns in a year. I don’t think anyone wants to 
cause difficulty for someone, especially who is a small business 
man or woman who does a few of these. 

But my understanding is that the fee, the registration fee to get 
registered for these preparers, would be $65. Say you do 50 to 100 
of these returns. That is a dollar or two more than you would have 
to charge per return if you are one of these preparers who is a 
small operation. To me, that is a small price to pay to make sure 
that that consumer going to that small operator is certified. 

Mr. CINQUEMANI. Representative Becerra, the context in 
which that comment was made with regard to putting people out 
of business was with respect to Section 10.3(f)3 of circular 230, 
which basically states that a registered return preparer cannot give 
advice, except in the preparation of a tax return, okay? 

Mr. BECERRA. Okay, and I understand that. And I would—and 
I share some of your concern, because often times folks come in 
with lots of questions that go beyond, ‘‘Here are my documents, 
prepare my tax return for me.’’ 

But at the same time, rather than try to—let’s move forward, 
working together, to make sure that people who are qualified are 
able to give the advice that consumers need—— 

Mr. CINQUEMANI. Agreed. 
Mr. BECERRA. But I think what we are trying to do is finally 

stop this pervasive underground—I call it a black market operation 
that is out there. They are open one week and they are gone the 
next. And a lot of folks pay good money to get good advice. 

And so all those small guys who do 50 or 100 and keep to what 
their skill level is, and their qualifications are, I want to put 
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them—elevate them. But the guy that goes after that 101st person 
and causes them to be audited unfairly, we should descend on them 
with a hammer so hard, that they become the example for the rest 
of the industry. 

So I hope you will continue to be engaged in your membership, 
because I think—— 

Mr. CINQUEMANI. Absolutely. 
Mr. BECERRA [continuing]. Every one of you provided valuable 

testimony. 
Mr. CINQUEMANI. Absolutely, we will. 
Mr. BECERRA. I thank you very much, Mr. Chairman—— 
Mr. CINQUEMANI. And we are very supportive of the process, 

as well. 
Mr. BECERRA. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. Mr. Reed. 
Mr. REED. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Cinquemani, I want 

to give you an opportunity, because I am interested in the comment 
you made about—that the advice that will no longer be able to be 
provided—I think you were going to go down that path in response 
to my colleague’s question, previously. 

So what advice would they not be permitted to do after this is 
implemented? And could you give me some examples of what that 
type of advice is? 

Mr. CINQUEMANI. Yes. In the way it is worded currently, 
someone can give advice in terms of where someone walks in with 
a shoebox full of receipts, and you say, ‘‘Well, you take—this be-
longs on this line of the return, that belongs on that line of the re-
turn.’’ 

If someone during the year comes up and says, ‘‘I want to trade 
my dump truck for a D9 bulldozer’’—— 

Mr. REED. Right, yes. 
Mr. CINQUEMANI [continuing]. They are not permitted to give 

that kind of advice, under the provision the way it is currently 
stated. If someone has an emergency, a death in the family, and 
they need advice on a final 1040 or 1041 return, you can’t give that 
kind of advice. If someone calls up and has a concern about being 
compliant over one issue or the other, that is giving advice. 

Mr. REED. And so, under these proposed regulations, they would 
no longer be able to be—— 

Mr. CINQUEMANI. That particular provision—— 
Mr. REED [continuing]. That pre-tax advice, and that type of—— 
Mr. CINQUEMANI. Yes. And there is an easy fix to it. 
Mr. REED. And what is the fix? 
Mr. CINQUEMANI. The fix is just to basically say that they can 

give advice, but that their advice is not deemed privileged, as that 
communication is—— 

Mr. REED. Attorney-client type stuff? 
Mr. CINQUEMANI. Yes. 
Mr. REED. Okay. All right, I appreciate you clarifying that for 

me. 
The other inquiry I wanted to make of the panel, you heard— 

maybe you were here when I was asking the Agency a question 
about the rural areas. I come from a rural district of New York. 
Do you see any concerns about impact that this would have on 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 21:55 Dec 16, 2011 Jkt 070890 PO 00000 Frm 00091 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6602 I:\WAYS\OUT\70890.XXX 70890kg
ra

nt
 o

n 
D

S
K

H
R

R
P

4G
1P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 H

E
A

R
IN

G
S



88 

servicing residents, citizens in rural areas of the country, maybe 
from an H&R point of view? 

Ms. PICKERING. Thank you for asking that question. H&R 
Block is very concerned about that. With over 3,000, 4,000 offices 
in rural areas, as well, we have 170 tax preparers in international 
areas, where they serve U.S. military bases. We don’t know how we 
will get those preparers through the competency examination. 

We did hear David say that it is something that they want to un-
derstand—— 

Mr. REED. Work on, yes. 
Ms. PICKERING [continuing]. And work on, but it is clearly an 

area that is of big concern for us. What we don’t want to have hap-
pen is that we are unable to get our preparers registered and then, 
as such, we are unable to serve those communities that rely very 
heavily on this—— 

Mr. REED. So, from your point of view, is it legitimate, fair to 
say, that it is a—this is a legitimate issue, a legitimate concern, 
and needs to be addressed, in your opinion, prior to full enactment 
of these provisions? 

Ms. PICKERING. I would say that wholeheartedly. This is a le-
gitimate concern that we need to address. 

Mr. REED. And then—I am always trying to be practical—do you 
have any ideas on how we could address that, and then solve that 
issue? 

Ms. PICKERING. Our recommendation would be to let H&R 
Block continue the program and accept our program—certify our 
program. 

Mr. REED. As equal. Okay. Any other ideas on how to address 
that concern from any other members of the panel? 

[No response.] 
Mr. REED. Do other members of the panel think that is not a 

concern? Anyone on the panel? 
[No response.] 
Mr. REED. All right. All right, thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield 

back. 
Chairman BOUSTANY. Thank you. I want to thank all of you for 

your testimony, and being patient, and answering our questions. 
Please be advised that Members may have additional questions 
that they will submit. Those questions and your answers would be 
made part of the official record. 

Again, thank you. I think this has been a very helpful hearing 
for us, and as we go forward with this program. The subcommittee 
now stands adjourned. 

[Whereupon, at 11:24 a.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.] 

QUESTIONS FOR THE RECORD 
Rep. Boustany’s for David Williams 
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SUBMISSIONS FOR THE RECORD 

The Ohio Society of CPAs 
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National Society of Tax Professionals 
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Center for Fiscal Equity 
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National Community Tax Coalition 
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